Annual Report

Ahlström
Capital

Ahlström Capital is a private equity
investment company that creates added
value for its owners by channeling its
investments into industrial companies,
real estate and cleantech growth
companies. The company is one of Finland's
biggest private equity investors, with the
total net sales of its portfolio companies
exceeding one billion euros.
Ahlström Capital's strengths are its solid
professional approach, industrial expertise,
long entrepreneurial traditions,
and substantial financial resources.

Contents
Ahlström Capital 2012 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

1

Report of Operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 25

Review by the President . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

2

Financial Statements

Investment Environment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

4

Consolidated Income Statement . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 30

Strategy and Investments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

5

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows . . . . . . . . . . . . . 31

Industrial Investments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

7

Consolidated Balance Sheet . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 32

Real Estate Investments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 16

Notes to Financial Statements . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 34

Cleantech Investments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 19

Income Statement and Statement of

Board of Directors and Personnel . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 22

Cash Flows, Parent Company . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 42
Balance Sheet, Parent Company . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 43
Auditor’s Report . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 44
Proposal for the Distribution of Proﬁts . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 45
Key Figures . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 46
Book Value and External Fair Value of the Shares . . . . . . . 48
Shares and Shareholders . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 49
Governance Principles . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 50
Information for Shareholders . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 52

Ahlström Capital's

year
The dividend-adjusted external fair value of our
share increased by 17.3 percent and our net profit
was EUR 25 million
We simplified and derisked our portfolio
AR Packaging improved profitability and
concentrated its business operations
We reduced our holding in Vacon to 13.5 percent
Elbi's result improved substantially
We acquired a property in Helsinki at the address
Lönnrotinkatu 3 together with HGR
Property Partners
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Review by the President

Balancing
the portfolio
In 2012, Ahlström Capital
simplified its portfolio. We
derisked it deliberately by
streamlining our holdings
and adjusting the relative
weights of our investments.

For a private equity investment company,
the external fair value of its investments
is the key performance indicator. The
external fair value of our investments
developed favorably during the reporting
year, showing an increase of 17.3 percent.
In 2012, we were also able to substantially improve our accounting result
through exit gains, even though the year
was a challenging one for the operations
of our portfolio companies. The external
fair value of our holdings had increased
in the preceding year as well, but our
ﬁnancial statements showed a loss owing
to special items and impairment losses
recorded for the year.
Our solvency and gearing were not at
acceptable levels at the beginning of the
year. In the course of the year, we took
measures that improved our cash ﬂow
to reduce the gearing ratio, and pooled
some of our debts and liabilities to optimize our ﬁnancial expenses. As a result,
our balance sheet became considerably
lighter, and our key ﬁgures are already at
a better level. During the year, we also
adopted the practice of reporting to our
shareholders quarter-annually, just as
listed companies do.
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Controlled derisking and
active ownership
In 2012, we took active roles as owners
in our portfolio companies. We paid
particular attention to deﬁning their
strategies and operating policies and,
naturally, to monitoring their performance
so as to achieve better results in the
future.
Balancing our industrial investments
was one of our main objectives. Heading
into 2012, our aim was to reduce the
level of risk. Additionally, we set out
to balance the relative weights of our
portfolio investments, and in the fall, we
reduced our holding in Vacon. Ahlström
Capital has been a signiﬁcant shareholder
in Vacon since 2001, and Vacon’s weight
in the company’s investment capital had
increased substantially since then, owing
to the positive development of Vacon’s
share price. We still remain the largest
individual shareholder in the company.
Although the year was marred by
economic uncertainty, our portfolio
companies did reasonably well. Working
in Finland has been challenging, because
the country’s competitiveness has deteriorated substantially.
The ﬁnancial year of AR Packaging
Group was burdened by the additional
expenses arising from the efficiency
improvement program. However, the
company’s operating proﬁt increased
substantially over the previous year. The
company’s focus areas were adjusted
with the divestment of the beverage
packaging business late in the year. Enics,
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the electronics solution provider, was able
to retain its strong market position and
increase its net sales. But the company’s
internal efficiency failed to reach the
desired level, and measures have been
commenced to improve it. Elbi, Turkey’s
leading manufacturer of electrical installation accessories, was able to substantially increase its market share and net
sales, and the company’s development
is headed for the right direction. Vacon,
the manufacturer of variable-speed AC
drives, was able to increase its sales to
a number of industries in 2012, thereby

During the year,
we were able to
balance out
our industrial
portfolio in a
substantial way.
compensating for the drastic reduction in
the sales of renewable energy products. We exited from our investment in
Cencorp in spring 2012.

Development work continues
During the year, we were able to
balance out our industrial portfolio in a
substantial way. Because of our focus on

In a challenging economic
situation, private equity
investors need to be ready to
take controlled risks, when
this is deemed profitable.
Panu Routila, President & CEO

streamlining the portfolio, we were not
especially active in searching for new
investments. The balancing measures
also covered the industrial real estate
in our ownership. Of the four industrial
properties that were in our portfolio at
the start of the year, none was there
when the year ended.
In February, Ahlström Capital together
with the company HGR Property Partners
acquired a property in Helsinki at the
address Lönnrotinkatu 3. Our intention is
to convert the property – originally built
in 1896 – back to residential use; preliminary marketing of the apartments is
already underway. Our real estate development scheme in Bragadiru, Romania
has also proceeded according to plan.
Construction of the fourth residential

building commenced in September 2012,
and is scheduled to reach completion in
summer 2013.
The promising young companies in our
cleantech portfolio have enjoyed varied
success. Some of them have not been
able to meet the expectations, while
others have made substantial progress
with their new technologies. We continue
to see growth potential in the cleantech
sector.

A busy year ahead of us
Private equity investment accelerates
the economy and business life. In a
challenging economic situation, private
equity investors need to be ready to take
controlled risks, when this is deemed
proﬁtable. Personally, I am approaching

the ﬁve-year mark as President & CEO
of Ahlström Capital. During this time, we
have gone through many diﬀerent stages
and have made substantial headway
in many respects. And this work will
continue further.
I would like to extend my warmest
thanks to everyone at Ahlström Capital
and in our portfolio companies for their
diligent work, to the shareholders and
Board for their trust and commitment,
and also to all our partners for good
cooperation.
Helsinki, March 2013

Panu Routila
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Investment Environment

Acting as trailblazer
in uncertain times
Although the international
economic climate continues
to be uncertain, Ahlström
Capital’s active investment
strategy based on a longterm approach brings
security and unveils
new opportunities.

Private equity investment is an active
and value-adding form of ownership that
contributes to the growth and competitiveness of the entire national economy.
We work in continuous cooperation
with the management and boards of our
portfolio companies. The importance
of cooperation is underlined in times
of economic uncertainty, when we can
show way to others with our professional
business approach.
The general market situation was
uncertain in 2012. The international
economic situation deteriorated during
summer and fall, hurting Europe in particular. The fact that the European Central
Bank was ready to secure ﬁnancing in the
euro zone by providing the governments
and ﬁnancial institutions of the countries
in crisis with more money had a somewhat stabilizing eﬀect on the markets.
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Development of share prices towards
the end of the year provided slight indications of decreasing uncertainty on the
markets. But near-term outlooks were still
overshadowed by the stagnant growth
of world economy, the conﬁdence of
industry falling short of expectations, low
capacity utilization rates in Europe and
the government debt woes in the euro
zone.

Private equity investments
in Europe, 2010–2012
Index: Q1 2007=100
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Owing to the tight
availability of
credit, new
opportunities
may open up for
private equity
investors.

The business of Ahlström Capital’s
portfolio companies was not immune
to the weak economic situation either.
Order books grew shorter, as customers
now operate on shorter time spans.
Turkey and China are among the few
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countries of interest for Ahlström Capital
where the economy continues to grow,
albeit slower than before.
The uncertainty is expected to
continue in the ﬁrst half of 2013. Owing
to the tight availability of credit, new
opportunities may open up for private
equity investors.

Strategy and Investments

To derisk portfolio means
to add security
Ahlström Capital is an
active private equity
investment company that
acts as a professional and
responsible owner aiming
to provide long-term added
value.

We aim to realize return on our investments in ﬁve to seven years, but in some
cases we hold on to our stake longer
than that. We seek an annual return of
15 to 25 percent on our investments.
We are engaged in active development
with the management of the companies
we invest in by participating in their
Board work, and support the operations
of our portfolio companies by taking part
in their strategy planning and giving assistance with cooperation agreements and
acquisitions. We make our international
contacts available to these companies.

Our investment activities are supported
by a network of advisers with professional experience in various ﬁelds.

Investments made with a
long-term approach
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Our investments can be divided into
industrial, real estate and clean technology investments, the last of which
are made through our cleantech fund.
This fund also manages assets for third
parties. Our operating method enables us
to adopt a ﬂexible approach to investments: we can tailor our investment
activities and choose to acquire either
majority or minority holdings in companies.
Our investment capital also includes
liquid assets, which mainly consist of
short-term money market instruments.
During the year under review, our investment strategy focused on balancing and
derisking our investment portfolio by
applying a sharper investment focus.
In 2012, we made our business even
more transparent to our shareholders by
reporting to them every quarter-year.
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Our goal is to annually make one or two
acquisitions and exit from one or two
investments. The size of each equity
investment is typically EUR 5–25 million.

Net sales and net income, M€
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Net sales

Development of external
fair value per share, €
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Our industrial investments include AR
Packaging Group, a packaging producer;
Enics, an electronics manufacturing
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Strategy and Investments

services provider; Vacon, a stock-listed
manufacturer of variable-speed AC
drives; and Elbi, a manufacturer of electrical installation accessories. Industrial
investments account for 67 percent of
our investment portfolio.
During the year under review, we
reduced our holding in Vacon and exited
from our investment in Cencorp. Furthermore, AR Packaging Group sharpened
its core business focus by divesting the
beverage packaging business.

Real estate investments
Our real estate investments include two
properties in Helsinki: the office building
located at Eteläesplanadi 14 and the
property located at Lönnrotinkatu 3, one
we acquired in January 2012 with the
intention of converting it back to residential use. We are also building a new
residential area near Bucharest, Romania,
where the ﬁrst residential buildings were
completed in 2011.
During the year, we sold the industrial
and office building in Varkaus, Finland,

Ahlström Capital’s industrial investments on December 31, 2012
Portfolio company

Products/services

Net sales, MEUR

Holding, %

AR Packaging Group
Enics

Packaging

454.0

62

Electronics manufacturing services

390.9

96

Vacon

AC drives

388.4

13.5

Elbi Elektrik

Electrical installation accessories

23.9

100

and industrial premises located in Estonia
and the Netherlands. Real estate investments account for 18 percent of our
portfolio.

Cleantech investments
The cleantech fund that we manage
invests in clean technology companies
which oﬀer considerable growth potential
also on an international scale. We are an
important investor in this fund alongside
other institutional investors. The cleantech fund accounts for 4 percent of our
investment portfolio.

Change in the investments
July 1, 2001*

December 31, 2012**

4

5
3

4

1

1

2
3
2
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.

Industrial investments
Liquid funds
Real estate
Forest and land areas
Others

32%
28%
19%
19%
2%

* of net asset value
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Liquid funds
11%
Real estate
18%
Cleantech
4%

** of external fair value

Searching for new
opportunities
We are always on the lookout for new
investment targets, focusing on companies with good growth potential which
we feel can beneﬁt from our competence. In 2012, we looked into several
dozen investment opportunities, including
industrial companies, real estates and
cleantech companies. Our search for
new investments focuses mainly on the
Nordic countries and Eastern Europe.
We also use acquisitions to promote the
development of our portfolio companies
and help them become more international.

INDUSTRIAL investments
Our industrial investments include AR Packaging
Group, a packaging producer; Enics, an EMS provider;
Vacon, a stock-listed manufacturer of variable-speed
AC drives; and Elbi, a manufacturer of electrical
installation accessories.

Industrial Investments

The European packaging group
concentrates operations and
increases efficiency
2012 marked the first full
year of operation for AR
Packaging Group in its
current form. AR Packaging
Group was established
when A&R Carton, a leading
European manufacturer
of paperboard packages,
and Flextrus, the leading
manufacturer of flexible
packages in Northern
Europe, consolidated their
packaging businesses in
2011. The new group’s wide
product selection and
in-depth knowledge of the
packaging business create
added value to customers.
In 2012, AR Packaging Group posted net
sales of EUR 454.0 million. This represented a growth of 13 percent over 2011
(EUR 401.8 million). The sales ﬁgures for
Flextrus are included in the consolidated
net sales as from September 2011. The
pro forma net sales for the entire year
2011 were EUR 461 million.
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Ahlström Capital has a 62 percent
holding in the group, which has 1,600
employees at 15 sites across seven
European countries.
2012 was a year of major changes
for AR Packaging Group. Harald Schulz
commenced as the company’s new CEO
at the beginning of the year.
A new focused strategy has been
established for the company in order to
achieve a clearer operating structure.
The organization has been streamlined,
and sales and the core business operations have been prioritized. As part of this
change process, a wide-ranging adjustment program was carried out during
the year, resulting in a reduction of about
200 man-years from the company’s
workforce. Large non-recurring expenses
arising from this burdened the result for
the year.
Late in 2012, AR Packaging Group
divested its beverage packaging business
which featured production units in Sneek,
the Netherlands and Bremen, Germany.
It was acquired by Graphic Packaging
Holding Company, a U.S. entity. After
the divestment, AR Packaging Group is
now better positioned to focus on its ﬁve
remaining business areas.
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AR Packaging Group 2012
Net sales

MEUR 454.0
Holding

62%
Outlook
The aim is to further improve cost efficiency. Despite the general market situation, the demand for packaging products
remains relatively stable. As a result of
the development measures undertaken
or planned, AR Packaging Group will be
considerably more competitive, with a
lighter balance sheet and better ability to
perform.

packaging

AR Packaging

www.ar-carton.com www.flextrus.com

AR Packaging
Group will be
considerably more
competitive, with
a lighter balance
sheet and better
ability to perform.

AR Packaging Group –
Ownership 2012

AR Packaging Group –
Net sales 2008–2012, M€
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Industrial Investments

The electronics
solution provider
gained new momentum
Enics is one of the biggest
electronics manufacturing
services (EMS) providers
for professional industrial
electronics. Enics helps
industrial companies
to optimize their value
chains and improve
their competitiveness by
increasing productivity
and improving equipment
reliability, shortening
product development cycle
times and reducing total
costs.

Leading equipment manufacturers have
chosen Enics as partner to provide them
with the electronic solutions they need.
The company has special competencies
in many ﬁelds, including control systems
for elevators, escalators, trains and rail
traffic, and production and transfer of
energy, and security systems.
Enics provides life-cycle services
– from design to manufacture and
aftermarket services – including sourcing
and supply chain management. The highquality services also include fast proto-
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typing, industrialization, cost optimization,
test system design, circuit board and
system assembly, repair and maintenance.
Enics has several decades’ experience of serving customers in the ﬁeld of
industrial electronics. Its customer base
has developed favorably and currently
includes the most important companies
in the ﬁeld.
Headquartered in Zurich, Switzerland, Enics has a total of eight production plants in Finland, Sweden, Estonia,
Switzerland, Slovakia, and China, as well
as a sourcing office in Hong Kong. Enics
has a staﬀ of about 3,100. In 2012, the
company’s net sales were EUR 390.9
million. Ahlström Capital has a 96
percent stake in the company.
Proﬁtability of electronics manufacturing services fell below the targeted
level, and Enics implemented substantial
changes in its organization to improve
the performance of its production
sites. During the year, improvements
were made throughout the company
to optimize cost efficiency and use of
resources. Enics has shifted the focus of
its production from high-cost countries
to lower-cost countries, in accordance
with its long-term strategy and in order
to respond to changes in demand. As
part of this development, Enics further
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Enics 2012
Net sales

MEUR 390.9
Holding

96%

reinforced its Chinese operations by
establishing a plant in Suzhou, where
the official inauguration took place last
September.
The company also focused on
improving the management of its working
capital by adjusting the order-delivery
process so as to better respond to
changes in demand. The company’s
sales were at a good level, in view of the
general economic climate, and some
month-speciﬁc sales records were
achieved late in the year.
In December, the Board of Directors
of Enics appointed Hannu Keinänen, MSc
(Eng), as the new President & CEO as
from February 18, 2013.

Enics

electronics manufacturing services

www.enics.com

With its strong
customer base and
focused strategy,
Enics has everything it takes to
grow and improve
profitability.

Enics –
Ownership 2012

Enics –
Net sales 2008–2012, M€
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Outlook
Enics aims to optimize the management
of its working capital throughout the
organization and initiate new business
activities. At the same time, the company
will pay attention to customer satisfaction. With its strong customer base and
focused strategy, Enics has everything it
takes to grow and improve proﬁtability.

1. Ahlström Capital
2. Personnel

96%
4%

0

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012
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Industrial Investments

Developer of sustainable energy
solutions takes its product
selection to a new level
Vacon develops,
manufactures and sells
variable-speed AC drives
used to control electric
motors and produce
renewable energy.
Vacon’s products are used very widely
in industry, civil engineering and energy
production. The largest industries that
use variable-speed AC drives include
building automation, cranes and hoists,
marine and oﬀshore, mining and metals,
water and wastewater, elevators and
escalators, solar power, and wind
power. Vacon’s success is based on its
customer-oriented approach and solid
research and product development,
which has made the company one of the
most cost-eﬀective in the ﬁeld.
Vacon’s products facilitate improvements in energy efficiency and utilization of renewable energy sources on
an extensive scale. In 2012, Vacon’s
AC drives helped save an estimated
50 TWh of energy. This equals roughly
the production capacity of 9 nuclear
reactors. Variable-speed AC drives help
to reduce the energy consumption of
electric motors by up to 50 percent. In
global terms, it has been estimated that

12

comprehensive use of variable-speed
AC drives could reduce the total energy
consumption of electric motors by about
30 percent.
In 2012, the company’s net sales were
EUR 388.4 million. The company has a
staﬀ of around 1,500 worldwide. Vacon’s
R&D and production units are located in
Finland, the USA, China, and Italy. The
company has sales offices in 29 countries and its shares are listed on the main
list of NASDAQ OMX Helsinki.
In November, Ahlström Capital
reduced its holding in Vacon Plc to
13.5 percent. Ahlström Capital has
been a signiﬁcant shareholder in Vacon
since 2001, and Vacon’s weight in
the company’s investment capital has
increased substantially over the years,
owing to the positive development of
Vacon’s share price. Ahlström Capital,
which remains the largest shareholder in
Vacon, will continue its active ownership
policy and participation in the company’s
development.
During the year, Vacon was able
to increase its sales to a number of
industries, thereby compensating for the
drastic reduction in the sales of renewable energy products. In 2012, Vacon’s
sales increased particularly in building
automation and the marine and oﬀshore
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Vacon 2012
Net sales

MEUR 388.4
Holding

13.5%
industries, but decreased drastically in
renewable energy production.

New products,
new business sites
In spring, Vacon inaugurated a new
production plant in Bangalore, India. Additionally, Vacon opened a new competence center for solar energy products
in Barcelona, Spain, a regional center
in Singapore and a new sales office in
Almaty, in southern Kazakhstan.
During the year, Vacon took its product
selection to a new level by introducing
a number of new products. These
included the modernized VACON® NXP
family of variable-speed AC drives,
and the VACON® 100, VACON® 100 X
and VACON® 20 X variable-speed AC
drives that represent the third product
generation.

AC drives

Vacon

www.vacon.com

No other technical
solution exists – or
has been envisioned
for the foreseeable future – that
could challenge
the position of
variable-speed
AC drives or
replace them.

Vacon –
Ownership 2012

Vacon –
Net sales 2008–2012, M€
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Outlook
The general market situation still remains
uncertain, but Vacon will continue to
have good growth opportunities, because
no other technical solution exists – or
has been envisioned for the foreseeable
future – that could challenge the position

of variable-speed AC drives or replace
them. The new products launched by
Vacon will be a contributing factor in
the company’s eﬀorts to increase its
business, even in the challenging market
environment.

2013 will mark the 20th anniversary
of Vacon’s presence in the international
variable-speed AC drive markets.
Source: Vacon press releases 2012–2013
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Industrial Investments

The manufacturer of electrical
installation accessories on
a path of significant growth
Elbi is a Turkish
manufacturer of electrical
installation accessories
with elegant product
families and an extensive
distributor network.

Elbi is based in Istanbul, where it has its
own plant. The company has a staﬀ of
350, and it sells its products mainly in
the Black Sea region, Turkey, Romania,
Ukraine and Russia. In 2012, Elbi’s net
sales were EUR 23.9 million. As a result
of ownership arrangements carried out
last December, Ahlström Capital holds
the company’s entire stock.
Elbi’s competitive advantages are its
impressive and comprehensive product
range, a well-performing distribution
network, and efficient production. The
company has emerged as one of Turkey’s
leading manufacturers of electrical
installation accessories. In 2012, Elbi
expanded its operations and strengthened its position in the Black Sea region
and in the neighboring countries.
The company’s products are aimed to
create comfort and functionality in homes
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and public spaces. In product development, Elbi applies latest techonology
to integrate electronics and comfort
functions in new product families. New
materials and color combinations have
enabled manufacturing of glamorous
frames and switchboxes and helped
bring about improvements in switches
and sockets. In the design of products,
special attention is paid to fast and easy
installation on building sites.
Elbi will continue to develop new
versatile products and smart functionalities to further bolster its position in its
selected market areas.
In order to improve proﬁtability, the
company is committed to continuous
improvement of its internal processes
and cost efficiency.
The company has been successful in
increasing the efficiency of its operating
model, resulting in development and a
good business result in 2012.
The Turkish construction market has
been active in comparison with the
situation in the rest of Europe, and this,
in combination with Elbi’s strengthened
position on the home market, resulted in
clearly increased sales. Special attention
has been paid to increasing sales further
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Elbi 2012
Net sales

MEUR 23.9
Holding

100%

and achieving improvements in the
procurement and delivery chains.
2012 marked the ﬁrst year for the
company to record a proﬁt during
Ahlström Capital’s ownership.

electrical accessories

Elbi

www.el-bi.com

2012 marked the
first year for the
company to record
a profit during
Ahlström Capital’s
ownership.

Elbi –
Ownership 2012

Elbi –
Net sales 2008–2012, M€
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REAL ESTATE

investments

Maintenance and development of premium
properties and constant monitoring of the
market for new investment opportunities are
essential parts of our real estate business.

Real Estate Investments

A year of development
in real estate investments
Maintenance and
development of real
estate is an essential
part of Ahlström Capital’s
investment activities. Realestate investments balance
out the risks associated
with other investments
and offer steady returns.
Real estate accounts for 18
percent of our investments.

Ahlström Capital’s real-estate portfolio
includes two properties in Helsinki: the
premium property located at Etelä-

esplanadi 14 and the property located
at Lönnrotinkatu 3, the latter of which
was acquired jointly with HGR Property
Partners in January 2012. Additionally, the
company is currently building and developing a new residential area in Romania.
The Eteläesplanadi property is fully
leased out and, apart from a few tenant
changes, the rental business continues
as before.
Ahlström Capital gave up its industrial
properties in 2012. The industrial and
office building in Varkaus, where the
majority of the space had been vacant
for some time, was sold in February. In
December, the premises in Sneek, the
Netherlands, tenanted by A&R Carton,

were sold along with the beverage packaging business.
At the beginning of October, the
industrial building located in Elva, Estonia
was sold to the tenant, Ahlström Capital’s
portfolio company Enics. In December,
the premises in Tabasalu, Estonia were
likewise sold to the tenant, AR Packaging
Group.

A new site on Lönnrotinkatu
In January, Ahlström Capital and HGR
Property Partners acquired a company
by the name of Fastighets Ab Lönnrotsgatan 3. This company owns a property
in Helsinki at the address Lönnrotinkatu
3. The property, designed and developed

Savoy Theater and restaurants Savoy and Katsomo are among the tenants at Eteläesplanadi.
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Real Estate Investments

by architect Florentin Granholm and
completed in 1896, is situated in the very
heart of central Helsinki. The building
permit was obtained in January 2013, and
the aim is to convert the building to residential use by spring 2014. Preliminary
marketing of the apartments commenced
last fall.

The Romanian projects
are advancing
Ahlström Capital owns a plot of
approximately two hectares in Bragadiru,
Romania, near Bucharest. Ahlström
Capital and its local partner are engaged
in the construction of several residential
buildings on the plot. The ﬁrst two buildings were completed in May 2011, and
all of the apartments in them have been
sold. The third building was completed
last summer, and well over half of the
apartments have been sold. Construc-

tion of the fourth building commenced
in September 2012, scheduled to reach
completion in summer 2013.
The project continues as there is high
demand for new residential buildings in
Romania.

Development and monitoring
in progress
The Finnish real estate market has
continued its slight revival from the level
of 2011. Financing is less readily available
than before, as some international banks
have pulled out from the Finnish market.
In Helsinki, demand continues to focus
mainly on the downtown area. The rental
rates for business premises have not
gone up to any considerable extent, due
to the general economic situation.
Ahlström Capital is still actively considering the Russian real estate market, but
so far has made no investments there.

Premium apartments at
Lönnrotinkatu in downtown
Helsinki are scheduled for
completion in spring 2014.
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Ahlström Capital
is still actively
considering the
Russian real
estate market, but
so far has made
no investments
there.

We are constantly monitoring the real
estate market in both Finland and abroad
for new investment opportunities, at the
same time as we develop the properties
in our portfolio.

Three residential buildings have
already been completed by Ahlström
Capital in Bragadiru, Romania.

CLEANTECH

investments

Our cleantech companies differ in terms of size
and phase of development, but great potential
is seen in all of them.

Cleantech Investments

Clean technology growth
companies have taken
the next step forward
Ahlström Capital’s
cleantech fund invests in
clean technology companies.
The cleantech sector is a
very interesting target for
private equity investments.
The cleantech fund, which
accounts for 4 percent of
our investment portfolio,
has so far invested in seven
companies.

The cleantech fund, established in 2010,
represents an unconventional investment
avenue for Ahlström Capital: our venturecapital-type investments are focused on
young and emerging companies building
new kinds of businesses in the broader
cleantech sector. We want to have a
strong involvement in the evolution of
cleantech and make our competences
in the industrial sector available to
cleantech growth companies. We help
them to industrialize and commercialize
their operations and to develop their
processes by participating in board work
and, at the operational level, by taking
part in the work of various working
groups. We also make our contact
networks available to the companies
in order to help them to develop their
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businesses and possibly obtain additional
ﬁnancing.
AC Cleantech Growth Fund I Ky
ﬁnds and analyses interesting investment targets in the cleantech sector.
The fund has collected assets from a
group of investors and has invested these
assets in promising early- and growthstage cleantech companies. Alongside
Ahlström Capital, investments in the fund
have also been made by Varma, Sitra and
the Stiftelsen för Åbo Akademi foundation. The fund has received investment
commitments from its investors for a total
of EUR 50 million, of which Ahlström
Capital accounts for 30 percent, or EUR
15 million. Some EUR 5 million of this
remains to be invested.

Varied development among
growth companies
The companies in our cleantech portfolio
diﬀer in terms of size and phase of development, but all of them show growth
potential and technological advancement
in relation to their competitors. At the
end of 2012, the fund had investments in
seven companies. The fund aims to build
up its portfolio to comprise 8–10 companies, which means that new investments
may be made in the future. Our strategy
is to develop the companies for about
5 years, during which time additional

Ahlström Capital's Annual Report 2012

investments can be made in them. This is
to be followed by a proﬁtable exit.
In 2012, the fund did not increase the
number of companies in its portfolio,
but additional investments were made in
some of the existing ones. Each of the
portfolio companies made substantial
progress during the year, and most of
them have advanced from the product
development stage to the next stage,
commercialization.
In 2012, the market situation was
challenging for the cleantech sector, and
some of the companies did not reach the
business targets set for them. During the
next few years, the fund aims to identify
those companies that have the biggest
potential and focus speciﬁcally on their
development, targeting exits from those
that show less potential.
Our involvement in the cleantech
fund has boosted our proﬁle, attracted
proposals from potential new co-investors and expanded our international
contact network.

Cleantech portfolio
The Cleantech fund
has invested in seven
cleantech companies that
form Ahlström Capital’s
cleantech investment
portfolio.
Frangible Safety Posts
Frangible Safety Posts Ltd is a British
company that focuses on the passive
traffic safety market. It supplies reinforced composite posts that are designed
to collapse in a controlled manner in
a vehicle collision. They carry signs
on motorways and other busy roads.
Compared with steel posts, the new
posts improve safety, provide cost-savings
in maintenance and have a smaller environmental impact.
The fund’s holding is 40.0 percent.
www.fsp-ltd.com

Mervento
Mervento Oy is a Finnish company that
develops and delivers advanced direct
drive multi-megawatt turbine power plant
solutions for onshore, nearshore, and
oﬀshore applications. The company also
provides consulting based on its expertise in the area of wind turbine power
plant solutions. Mervento’s new technology focuses on quick, easy servicing
and a long service life.
The fund’s holding is 9.9 percent.
www.mervento.fi

Neapo
Neapo Oy is a Finnish company that
provides innovative steel construction

products for new buildings and repair
projects to improve cost-efficiency and
reduce the amount of work on building
sites. Indoor production in a dry and
warm environment ensures the high
quality and precision of the products.
Among the solutions oﬀered by the
company is a method for industrial
construction of apartment buildings,
where modules comprising entire apartments are transported to the site and
installed as a turnkey delivery, and a
solution where elevators are retroﬁtted to
buildings as separate tower elements.
The fund’s holding is 46.5 percent.
www.neapo.fi

Ripasso Energy
Ripasso Energy AB is a Swedish
company that engineers technology to
convert solar energy to electrical energy
efficiently and aﬀordably using a stirling
power converter. The technology is based
on a concept that was developed in the
early 1980s. The company’s competence
in stirling motor technology is on a very
high level with proven world-class efficiency bringing considerable competitive
advantages to the company. .
The fund’s holding is 75.5 percent.
www.ripassoenergy.se

Scandinavian Biogas

production of biogas for many diﬀerent
purposes. The company has established
biogas plants in Sweden and South
Korea.
The fund’s holding is 23.5 percent.
Additionally, the fund has invested in the
company’s convertible bonds.
www.scandinavianbiogas.se

TD Light Sweden
TD Light Sweden AB is a Swedish
company that develops and sells LEDbased lighting tubes to replace traditional
ﬂuorescent tubes. The biggest beneﬁt of
the new product is cost saving: LEDbased tubes use up to 70 percent less
energy and last 8 to 10 times longer than
traditional tube lights. The company holds
several patents for its new solution.
The fund’s holding is 53.2 percent.
www.tdlight.se

United Waters
United Waters International AG is a
Swiss company that owns and develops
groundwater puriﬁcation technology. This
advanced biological water puriﬁcation
method provides a cost-eﬀective means
of producing high-quality drinking water.
UWI is initially focusing on public sector
operators in China and India.
The fund’s holding is 5.5 percent.
www.uwiag.com

Scandinavian Biogas Fuels International
AB is a Swedish company that produces
renewable energy from organic waste,
such as sewage sludge or animal and
food waste. The digestion and gas
cleaning process designed by the
company enables efficient large-scale
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Report of operations

Ahlström Capital, founded in 2001, is a
private equity investment company and
an important industrial group. It uses both
its own balance sheet and bank funding
to make long-term investments in industrial companies and real estate and, via a
cleantech fund, in growth-stage cleantech companies. Ahlström Capital actively participates in the management and
development of its portfolio companies
jointly with the companies’ management
in order to increase their value. The total
net sales of Ahlström Capital’s portfolio
companies exceed one billion euros.
Ahlström Capital seeks an average
annual return of 15–25 percent on
managed capital over the long term.
To achieve return at the said level, the
company has made investments into
targets that are diﬀerent in terms of their
return expectations, risks and investment
horizons. The company aims to carry
out 1–2 business acquisitions per year.
Ahlström Capital aims to realize the gain
on its industrial investments over a time
span of ﬁve to seven years.

External fair value of
Ahlström Capital’s share
Ahlström Capital’s valuation policies
comply with the IPEV guidelines (International Private Equity and Venture Capital
Valuation Guidelines), according to which
external fair value is a price at which the
ownership of an investment could be
transferred between market parties on
the reporting date.
Ahlström Capital is a private equity
investment company; therefore, the external fair value of the company’s share is
the most relevant performance indicator.
External fair value is the most precise
method for monitoring the development
of an asset’s value during the holding
period. The external fair value will be
realized upon exit from the investment,

and then the balance sheet value of the
holding will be the same as its external
fair value.
The aggregate external fair value of
our investments increased, as a result
of which the dividend-adjusted external
fair value of Ahlström Capital Oy’s share
increased by 17.3 percent.

Business environment
In 2012, Ahlström Capital’s business
environment was challenging. The international economic situation deteriorated
during summer and fall, hurting Europe in
particular. The year was overshadowed
by the stagnant growth of world economy,
the conﬁdence of industry falling short
of expectations, low capacity utilization
rates in Europe and the government debt
woes in the euro zone.
The business of Ahlström Capital’s
portfolio companies was not immune
to the weak economic situation either.
Order books grew shorter, and customers now operate on shorter time spans.
Turkey and China are among the few
countries of interest for Ahlström Capital
where the economy continues to grow,
albeit slower than before.
The decision made in the summer by
the European Central Bank to buy eurozone government bonds clearly calmed
the ﬁnancial markets. There was a
decrease in interest rates on government
bonds issued by the troubled countries
in the euro zone, and the stock market
picked up considerable momentum.
Late in the year there were slight
indications of the world economy turning
for the better. Nevertheless, economic
growth is expected to be modest in
2013.
Interest rates are expected to remain
at a low level, and credit should be available.

Investments and
portfolio development
In 2012, we simpliﬁed our portfolio. We
derisked it deliberately by reducing our
holdings in some of our investments and
exiting from others. At year-end, industrial
investments accounted for 67 percent
(72% in 2011; 69% in 2010), real estate
for 18 percent (19; 24), the cleantech
fund for 4 percent (3; 2) and liquid funds
for 11 percent (6; 5) of our investments.

Exits
In February, we sold the industrial and ofﬁce building located in Varkaus, Finland.
In April, Ahlström Capital exited Cencorp Corporation, a stock-listed company,
by selling its entire holding of about 5
percent.
In November, Ahlström Capital
reduced its holding in Vacon Plc to 13.5
percent.
In December, AR Packaging Group,
part of the Ahlström Capital Group,
divested its beverage packaging business
and in this conjunction Ahlström Capital
sold the property used by the divested
business.

New investments
In January, Ahlström Capital together
with HGR Property Partners acquired the
company Fastighets Ab Lönnrotsgatan
3 that owns a property in Helsinki at the
address Lönnrotinkatu 3.
In December, Ahlström Capital
increased its holding in Elbi Elektrik from
60 percent to 100 percent.
During the year, Ahlström Capital
invested, in proportion to its ownership
interest, EUR 3 million in the cleantech
fund that it manages.
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Industrial investments
Ahlström Capital has spread its industrial
investments over diﬀerent sectors. The
company is an important industrial main
owner in AR Packaging Group, Enics, and
Elbi. Ahlström Capital is also the biggest
individual shareholder of Vacon Plc.
In general, 2012 was a challenging
year, and the ﬁnancial performance of our
portfolio companies was uneven. Their
total result improved substantially, but
excluding the impact of exit gains, it fell
below the previous year’s level.
AR Packaging Group (Ahlström
Capital’s holding is 62%) In 2012,
the sales and order book of AR Packaging Group developed inconsistently, and
proﬁtability levels still diﬀered between
the units. The market situation and
demand deteriorated towards the year’s
end, but nonetheless remained relatively
stable. The company took substantial
cost-savings measures during the year
under review, and these measures
continue to be taken. Operating proﬁt
excluding non-recurring items improved
from the previous year. Late in 2012, AR
Packaging Group divested its beverage
packaging business including the related
production units in Sneek, the Netherlands and Bremen, Germany. Due to the
divestment, AR Packaging Group is now
better positioned to focus on its ﬁve
remaining business areas. AR Packaging
Group posted net sales of EUR 454.0
million (401.8; 355.5). The growth was
mainly attributable to the consolidation of
Flextrus, acquired by the group in August
2011, for the entirety of 2012.
Enics (96%) The electronics manufacturing services provider’s proﬁtability
fell below the target level in 2012, and
considerable changes were carried
out to improve the performance of the
manufacturing plants. Enics further
reinforced its Chinese operations by
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establishing a plant in Suzhou, where
the official inauguration took place last
September. Enics has shifted the focus
of its production to lower-cost countries,
in accordance with its long-term strategy
and in order to respond to changes in
demand. The company’s sales were at a
good level in the second year-half, in view
of the general economic climate, and
some month-speciﬁc sales records were
achieved late in the year. In December, a
new President and CEO was appointed
to the company, to assume the position in
February 2013. Enics posted net sales of
EUR 390.9 million (377.0; 315.9).
Vacon (13.5%) Vacon, the manufacturer
of variable-speed AC drives, was able
to increase its sales to a number of
industries in 2012, thereby compensating
for the reduction in the sales of renewable energy products. The number of
orders for the company’s wind power
products fell notably behind the level
of 2011. In spring, Vacon inaugurated a
new production plant in Bangalore, India.
Vacon has achieved quick growth on the
Indian markets, and the new plant has
improved the company’s competitiveness further. Additionally, Vacon opened a
new competence center for solar energy
products in Barcelona, Spain, a regional
center in Singapore and a new sales
office in Almaty, in southern Kazakhstan.
Its net sales increased by 2.0% to EUR
388.4 million (380.9; 338.0). Operating
proﬁt was EUR 37.7 million (24.7; 28.6).
The market value of Vacon’s share rose
by 30.1 percent in 2012.
Elbi Elektrik (100%) Elbi has emerged
as one of Turkey’s leading manufacturers
of electrical installation accessories. In
the year under review, Elbi expanded its
operations and strengthened its position in the Black Sea region and in the
neighboring countries. The company
has continued to develop new products
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and functionalities to further bolster its
position in its selected market areas.
In order to improve proﬁtability, Elbi
has continuously improved its internal
processes and cost efficiency. Special
attention has been paid to increasing
sales further and achieving improvements
in the procurement and delivery chains.
The company has been successful in
increasing the efficiency of its operating
model, resulting in development and a
good business result in 2012. The Turkish
construction market has been active in
comparison with the situation in the rest
of Europe and this, in combination with
Elbi’s strengthened position on the home
market, resulted in clearly increased
sales. As a result of ownership arrangements carried out in December, Ahlström
Capital holds the company’s entire stock.
Elbi’s net sales increased by 26 percent
on the previous year and were EUR 23.9
million (18.9; 17.5).

Real estate investments
The premium property at Eteläesplanadi
14 in Helsinki is fully leased out, and
apart from a few tenant changes the
rental business went on as before. The
industrial and office building located in
Varkaus, Finland was sold in February. In
October, the industrial building located
in Elva, Estonia was sold to the tenant,
Ahlström Capital's portfolio company Enics. In December, the industrial property
of AR Packaging Group in Sneek, the
Netherlands was sold along with the
company’s beverage packaging business.
In January, Ahlström Capital together
with HGR Property Partners acquired
a property in Helsinki at the address
Lönnrotinkatu 3. The intention is to convert the building – originally built in 1896
– back to residential use by spring 2014.
Preliminary marketing of the apartments
has already started.
In Bragadiru, Romania, all of the apartments in the two residential buildings

constructed on a plot owned by Ahlström
Capital and completed in 2011 have been
sold. The third residential building was
completed in summer 2012, and well
over half of the apartments have been
sold. Construction of the fourth building commenced in September 2012,
scheduled to reach completion in summer 2013.

Fund investments and
liquid funds
AC Cleantech Growth Fund In
2010, Ahlström Capital launched a cleantech fund, AC Cleantech Growth Fund I
Ky, which identiﬁes and analyses interesting investment targets in the ﬁeld. The
fund has collected funds from a group
of investors and has invested them in
altogether seven growth-stage cleantech
companies. In addition to Ahlström Capital, investments in the fund have been
made by Varma Mutual Pension Insurance
Company, the Finnish Innovation Fund
Sitra, and Stiftelsen för Åbo Akademi, all
of them institutional investors.
In 2012, the fund did not increase the
number of cleantech companies in its
portfolio, but additional investments were
made in some of the existing ones. Some
of the promising young companies have
evolved substantially and have advanced
to the commercialization stage. However,
since all of the companies have not yet
been able to meet the expectations,
the fund’s main task is to make further
inputs in the development of the portfolio
companies.
The cleantech portfolio currently
consists of the following companies:
Frangible Safety Posts Ltd, Mervento Oy,
Neapo Oy, Ripasso Energy AB, Scandinavian Biogas Fuels International AB, TD
Light Sweden AB and United Waters
International AG.

Mint Capital Mint Capital is a private
equity fund that invests in companies
operating in Russia and former Soviet
republics. The fund aims to make use of
the strong consumption-driven economic
growth in Russia. Ahlström Capital acts
as a passive investor and has invested
4.4 million U.S. dollars in the fund. In all,
Ahlström Capital has committed to invest
ﬁve million U.S. dollars. The fund has now
advanced to the exit stage and will make
no more new investments. Nevertheless,
additional investments can still be made
during the exit stage in companies currently in the portfolio.

Liquid funds
Ahlström Capital Oy and the holding
companies owned by it have liquid funds
available for additional investments, and
these mainly consist of short-term money
market instruments. Their value at the
end of 2012 totalled EUR 41.5 million
(14.5; 14.7).

Group structure
Ahlström Capital Oy is the parent company of the Ahlström Capital Group. At the
end of the reporting period, the Group
comprised AC Finance B.V., AC Real
Estate B.V., ACEMS AB and AC-Kiinteistö
Oy, all of these with subsidiaries, and AC
Kosmo AB, Sulma Fastigheter AB, Capbe
AB, AC Verwaltungs-GmbH, AC Cleantech Management Oy, Karhula Osakeyhtiö and Elva Holding Oy. Furthermore,
the companies Lönnrotinkadun Kivipalatsi
Oy, Lönnrotinkadun Kivipalatsi Holding Oy
and the Romanian real estate company
West Residential Park s.r.l., in all of which
Ahlström Capital has a holding of 50
percent, are included in the consolidation
as associates. An important shareholding
outside the Group is Vacon Plc (13.5%).
The companies in the cleantech portfolio
are not included in Ahlström Capital’s
consolidated ﬁnancial statements. We
continued to streamline our Group

structure so that it better corresponds
with our operating model. To this eﬀect,
we concentrated our holdings in the
Netherlands, among other things.

Group earnings in 2012
The comparative ﬁgures are for the same
periods in 2011 and 2010, unless stated
otherwise.
Ahlström Capital’s twelfth reporting period, extending from January 1 to
December 31, 2012 was challenging,
similarly to the previous year. The Group’s
ﬁnancial performance improved substantially, owing to the capital gains recorded
for the year. Furthermore, the 2011
earnings were burdened by impairment
losses. However, the aggregate earnings
of the portfolio companies, excluding the
impact of exit gains and structural items,
fell below the previous year’s level. Return
on capital employed was 11.0 percent
(0.5 negative; 4.0 positive).
The external fair value of Ahlström
Capital Oy’s share increased by EUR
112.24 (15.5%) to EUR 834.16 in the
reporting period. Including the dividends
paid, the increase was 17.3 percent. The
increase in the fair value of the company’s share was due to the increase in
the fair value of our investments in Vacon
and Elbi. The net sales of the Ahlström
Capital Group increased year-over-year
to EUR 873.2 million (801.9; 683.8). The
EMS business accounted for EUR 390.9
million (377.0; 315.9). the packaging
business for EUR 454.0 million (401.8;
355.5), the electrical installation accessories business for EUR 23.9 million
(18.9; 17.5) and the real estate business
for EUR 4.0 million (3.8; 3.7) of this.
All of these businesses increased their
net sales from the previous year. Other
operating income amounted to EUR 39.9
million (5.1; 9.0), and mainly arose from
the gains generated on exits. Ahlström
Capital’s share of the results of its associates was EUR 2.5 million (2.2; 1.3). Vacon
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was included in the consolidation up until
the end of September. The Group’s operating proﬁt was EUR 37.7 million (loss
2.2; proﬁt 11.1).
Financial income was EUR 2.5 million
(0.5; 0.9). Financial expenses were EUR
13.8 million (27.0; 7.1). The administrative costs of parent company Ahlström
Capital Oy and international holding companies amounted to EUR 4.9 million (4.4;
4.8) in the reporting period, representing
an average of 1.6 percent (1.3; 1.3) of the
fair value of the Group’s capital stock.
Pre-tax proﬁt was EUR 26.4 million (loss
28.7; proﬁt 4.9). Taxes recorded for the
period were EUR 2.6 million negative
(7.2 negative; 1.3 positive). The Group’s
net proﬁt was EUR 24.9 million (net loss
35.0; net proﬁt 6.5).

Financial position and
financing
Ahlström Capital’s ﬁnancial position
strengthened substantially during the
ﬁnancial year. At the end of the year, consolidated shareholders’ equity was EUR
169.2 million (141.2; 183.4). The equity ratio at the end of the year was 36 percent
(31; 41), and net gearing stood at 53 percent (86; 42). Interest-bearing liabilities
totaled EUR 169.4 million (192.6; 111.4) at
the end of December 2012. At yearend, parent company Ahlström Capital
Oy and the holding companies in its
ownership had EUR 41.5 million (14.5;
14.7) available for new investments. The
guarantees issued by Ahlström Capital
Oy on behalf of its portfolio companies
totaled EUR 35.2 million (8.0; 31.6) on
December 31, 2012. Net cash ﬂow from
operating activities (cash ﬂow after net
ﬁnancial income, taxes paid, and change
in net working capital) was EUR 37.5
million (12.9 negative; 1.6 negative). EUR
44.2 million (52.6; 43.1) was spent on
investments in ﬁxed assets and on new
investments. Most of these consisted of
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the purchase of Elbi shares, the acquisition of the property at Lönnrotinkatu 3
and the investments in ﬁxed assets made
by subsidiaries.
Net cash ﬂow from ﬁnancing activities was negative at EUR 20.4 million
(72.9 positive; 6.1 negative). At year-end,
the Group had liquid funds of EUR 65.7
million (48.7; 32.2). Based on the Annual
General Meeting’s decision, the company
paid a dividend of EUR 12.50 per share,
totaling EUR 4.5 million.

Accounting principles
No changes were made to the accounting principles in the review period.

Risk management
Ahlström Capital aims to reduce the risk
related to investments and to increase
the return on investments by employing a
carefully considered investment strategy and a multi-stage decision-making
process for investments, as well as by
diversifying its investments by choosing assets that diﬀer in terms of their
expected returns, risks, and investment
horizons. Moreover, risks are managed
and potential returns increased by actively participating in the development of
the target companies’ operations through
Board activities and by giving support to
operational activities.

Personnel, management
and auditors
The Ahlström Capital Group had an average of 5,376 employees (5,277; 4,704)
over the period. Wages, salaries and
fees paid amounted to EUR 151.0 million
(133.1; 113.8).
Jasmiina Ojala, LL.M, joined the company as Assistant Legal Counsel on January 2, 2012. Sebastian Burmeister, MSc
(Econ) was appointed the Chief Financial
Officer of Ahlström Capital as from April
1, 2012, after serving as the company’s
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Investment Manager for ten years. Kari
Cederberg, BSc (Econ), who had served
as Financial Director since 2001, became Senior Advisor. Satu Iljanko, MSc
(Econ) was appointed Controller for a
ﬁxed term in September. At the end of
the year, the parent company’s personnel numbered 14. Panu Routila is the
company’s President and CEO.
The Board of Directors of Ahlström
Capital Oy has been chaired by Stig
Gustavson since August 30, 2011.
Johannes Gullichsen and Jouko Oksanen
have served as Board members since
June 30, 2001, Martti Saikku since
March 26, 2007, and Mats Danielsson
since November 7, 2011.
The auditor was the auditing ﬁrm Ernst
& Young Oy, with Kristina Sandin. Authorized Public Accountant, as the auditor in
charge.

Court proceedings and
disputes
In December 2011, Ahlström Capital Oy
and its subsidiary Karhula Osakeyhtiö
together with A. Ahlström Osakeyhtiö
ﬁled a claim for damages in the Helsinki
District Court due to the price cartel
that existed in the Finnish timber markets
between 1997 and 2004. During those
years, the companies were part of
substantial transactions involving sale of
forest estates and timber, and the cartel
most probably had a negative eﬀect on
price formation in these transactions. The
maximum aggregate amount of damages
claimed together by the Ahlström companies is approximately EUR 19.8 million.
Processing of the claim has been slow,
and in 2012, the defendants provided
their own responses to the district court.

Outlook for 2013
The operating environment is expected
to remain challenging and uncertain in
2013. However, the outlooks for the op-

erating results of our portfolio companies
are better than last year, thanks to measures undertaken or to be undertaken.
Ahlström Capital continues to actively
develop its target companies and to
assess and make new investments. The
company’s equity position and ﬁnancial
reserves enable new investments.

Ahlström Capital’s ﬁnancing has a
solid foundation, owing to the arrangements made. We believe that funding will
also be available for new projects.

MAJOR SHAREHOLDERS ON DECEMBER 31, 2012
At the end of 2012, Ahlström Capital Oy had 211 shareholders.
Number of shares

Percentage of shares

Antti Ahlström Perilliset Oy

37,585

10.41

Varma Mutual Pension Insurance Company

23,490

6.51

Mona Huber

14,327

3.97

Jacqueline Tracewski

10,076

2.79

Kim Kylmälä

8,464

2.35

Kaj Nahi

8,203

2.27

Johan Gullichsen

7,537

2.09

Anneli Studer

7,372

2.04

Niklas Lund

6,953

1.93

Kasper Kylmälä

6,908

1.91

Others

230,004

63.73

Total

360,919

100.00
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Consolidated Income Statement
Note

2012

2011

Net Sales

1

873,155

801,929

Other operating income

2

39,903

5,113

Materials and services

3

–546,488

–502,888

Personnel costs

4

–186,785

–171,129

Depreciation, amortization and reduction in value

9

–23,910

–40,644

–120,650

–96,787

2,470

2,208

37,695

–2,198

EUR 1,000

Other operating expense
Share in results of associated companies
Operating proﬁt (loss)

Financing income and expense
Interest and other ﬁnancing income

6

Interest and other ﬁnancing expenses

Result before appropriations and taxes

Income taxes
Result before minority interest

Minority interest
Net result for the period
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8

2,483

505

–13,773

–27,038

–11,290

–26,533

26,405

–28,731

–2,605

–7,193

23,800

–35,924

1,085

935

24,885

–34,989

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
EUR 1,000

2012

2011

Cash ﬂow from operating activities

Operating proﬁt (loss)

37,697

–2,198

Share in results of associated companies

–2,470

–2,208

Depreciation and amortization

23,910

40,644

Gains of disposals of ﬁxed assets and other non-current assets

–9,528

0

Other adjustments

–5,773

2,188

Cash ﬂow from operating activities before change in net working capital

43,836

38,426

Change in net working capital

Increase in short-term receivables (–)

–343

–26,195

Increase (–) / decrease (+) of inventories

12,507

–25,872

Increase (+) / decrease (–) of short-term non-interest-bearing debts

–1,668

28,312

Cash ﬂow from operating activities before ﬁnancing items and taxes

54,332

14,671

Interest and other ﬁnancing income
Interest and other ﬁnancing expenses

5,335

3,576

–13,866

–27,038

Income taxes

–8,292

–4,141

Net cash ﬂow from operating activities

37,509

–12,932

Capital expenditure

–41,178

–47,873

Other investments

–2,972

–4,738

–570

–2,909

Cash ﬂow used in investing activities

Redemption of company shares
Proceeds from sales of non-current assets
Change in notes receivable and other receivables
Net cash ﬂow used in investing activities

41,396

8,614

3,286

3,354

–38

–43,552

25,607

69,360

–42,043

11,495

Cash ﬂow from ﬁnancing activities

Change in long-term liabilities
Change in short-term debt
Dividends paid

–4,511

–4,511

512
–20,435

–3,415
72,929

Change in cash and ﬁnancial investments

17,036

16,445

Cash and ﬁnancial investments at beginning of period

48,660

32,215

Cash and ﬁnancial investments at end of period

65,696

48,660

Other adjustments
Net cash ﬂow from ﬁnancing activities

31

ﬁnancial statements 2012

Consolidated Balance Sheet
ASSETS
Dec. 31, 2012

Dec. 31, 2011

2,240
280
23,334
6,936
15
32,805

1,842
614
18,467
5,984
13
26,920

31,512
41,706
69,772
1,300
5,988
150,278

33,013
45,198
69,500
2,437
9,924
160,072

32
43,341
744
44,117

37,261
13,779
2,713
53,753

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS

227,200

240,745

CURRENT ASSETS
Inventories
Materials and supplies
Work in process
Finished goods
Advances paid
Total inventories

62,971
22,076
33,582
115
118,744

72,620
19,731
38,799
101
131,251

639
3,751
10,668
155
25
15,238

1,013
3,643
0
10,571
405
20
15,652

EUR 1,000

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Intangible assets
Intangible rights
Goodwill
Group consolidation goodwill
Other intangible assets
Advances paid
Total intangible assets
Tangible assets
Land and water areas
Buildings and constructions
Machinery and equipment
Other tangible assets
Advances paid and construction in progress
Total tangible assets
Investments
Shares in associated companies
Other stock and shares
Other receivables
Total investments

Long-term receivables
Accounts receivable
Notes receivable
Receivables from associated companies
Deferred tax assets
Other receivables
Prepaid expenses and accrued income
Total long-term receivables
Short-term receivables
Accounts receivable
Receivables from associated companies
Deferred tax assets
Notes receivable
Other receivables
Prepaid expenses and accrued income
Total short-term receivables

Note

9

9

10

19
16

19
16

11

86,999
1,097
2,096
11,748
10,516
112,456

Financial investments
Cash and bank

84,442
1,301
455
4,380
11,941
9,115
111,634
892

65,696

47,767

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS

312,134

307,196

TOTAL ASSETS

539,334

547,941
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SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
EUR 1,000

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

Note

Dec. 31, 2011

36,092
12,774
95,462
24,885
169,213

36,092
12,774
127,363
–34,989
141,240

25,215

26,329

9,688

15,233

83,566
29
32,126
5,990

113,093

12

Share capital
Capital in excess of par value
Retained earnings
Net result for the period
TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
MINORITY INTEREST
PROVISIONS

Dec. 31, 2012

14

LIABILITIES
Long-term liabilities
Loans from ﬁnancial institutions
Advances received
Other liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities
Accrued expenses and deferred income
Total long-term liabilities
Short-term liabilities
Loans from ﬁnancial institutions
Advances received
Accounts payable
Other liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities
Accrued expenses and deferred income
Total short-term liabilities

15

16
17

121,711

52,748
3,109
106,867
9,174

25,595
11,942
829
151,459

41,609
213,507

54,705
1,454
111,692
13,652
92
32,085
213,680

TOTAL LIABILITIES

335,218

365,139

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

539,334

547,941

16
17
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Notes to Financial Statements

ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES
The ﬁnancial statements of the Ahlström
Capital Group and the parent company
Ahlström Capital Oy have been prepared
in accordance with the Finnish Accounting Act and other regulations in force in
Finland. They comply with the European
Union directives on ﬁnancial statements
and good accounting practices. In reporting to the Group, all Group companies
adhere to these uniform accounting
principles.
A copy of the consolidated ﬁnancial
statements is available on the web site
of Ahlström Capital Oy or at the parent
company’s address Eteläesplanadi 14,
Helsinki.
The ﬁnancial statements are presented
in euros and are prepared under the
historic cost convention.
Ahlström Capital Oy was formed when
A. Ahlström Corporation demerged into
three companies on June 30, 2001. The
official ﬁnancial statements for 2012 have
been prepared for the twelfth ﬁnancial
year of the company and Group, spanning the period from January 1, 2012 to
December 31, 2012.
No changes were made to the accounting policies in the accounting
period.

and companies that have been sold during the year are included up to the date
of sale.
Intragroup transactions are eliminated
when preparing the consolidated ﬁnancial
statements. Cross-shareholdings are
eliminated using the purchase method.
The diﬀerence between the subsidiary’s
acquisition price and equity on the date
of acquisition is recognized in assets
with respect to those items whose fair
values exceed the carrying amounts. The
remaining diﬀerence is recorded in the
balance sheet as goodwill.
Minority interests have been separated
from the consolidated shareholders’ equity and the net result for the period and
have been presented as a separate item.
The portions of the purchase price
allocated to assets are depreciated or
recognized as income at the same rate
as the asset items in question. Goodwill
is amortized over a maximum of 20
years.
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Research and development
expenditure
Research and development costs are recognized as an expense in the year they
were incurred. Development costs can
be capitalized if the conditions laid down
in the Decree of the Ministry of Employment and the Economy (1066/2008)
are met. The conditions are based on the
IAS 38 accounting standard.

Revenue recognition
Income from the sale of goods and
services is recognized as revenue when
the goods are delivered or the services
rendered. Net sales are shown net of
indirect taxes and discounts. Translation diﬀerences attributable to sales are
reported as part of net sales.

Principles of consolidation
The consolidated ﬁnancial statements
include the accounts of the parent
company and all companies in which it
owns, directly or indirectly, more than 50
percent of the voting rights.
Associates, in which the Group has
20 to 50 percent of the voting rights, are
consolidated using the equity method.
Companies acquired during the year
are included in the consolidated ﬁnancial
statements from the date of acquisition,

are shown as adjustment items under
purchase expenses (annual costs or
capitalizations).
Exchange diﬀerences arising from
translation of ﬁnancial items are shown
as ﬁnancial income or ﬁnancial expenses.
Foreign subsidiaries’ income statements are translated into euros at the
average rate of the period and balance
sheets at the period-end rate.
The exchange diﬀerences arising from
translation of the equity of subsidiaries
and of associated companies is included
in the Group’s equity.

Items denominated in foreign
currency
In the ﬁnancial statements, receivables
and liabilities denominated in foreign
currency are translated into euros at the
period-end rate. Translation diﬀerences in
receivables and liabilities are recognized
in proﬁt or loss. Translation diﬀerences
attributable to sales are reported as part
of net sales. Exchange diﬀerences arising
from translation of accounts payable
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Pension costs
In Finland, the statutory pension liability
and supplementary pension beneﬁts are
funded through insurance policies and
recognized in accordance with actuarial
calculations. In other countries, pension
plans and their treatment comply with
local legislation and practice. Pension
insurance premiums and changes in
pension liabilities are recognized in proﬁt
or loss.

Derivative instruments
The fair value of liabilities arising from
the derivative agreements that have been
made in order to hedge currency risks
and interest rate risks and the par value
of hedged beneﬁts or liabilities have been
reported in the notes to the ﬁnancial
statements.

Inventories

Taxes

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost
or market.

Income taxes consist of taxes paid and
payable on taxable income for the most
recent and previous accounting periods
in accordance with local tax laws, plus
deferred taxes.
Deferred taxes are calculated on timing diﬀerences between book and taxable
income.
Deferred tax liabilities or assets are
calculated on temporary diﬀerences in
the ﬁnancial statements, applying the tax
rate conﬁrmed for subsequent years at
the end of the reporting period. Deferred
tax assets are stated in the balance sheet
as estimated probable beneﬁt. Deferred
tax assets arising from conﬁrmed losses
can be recognized in the ﬁnancial statements to the extent that it is probable
that taxable proﬁt will be available against
which the losses can be utilized.

Investments
Investments that are intended to generate
income for more than one accounting period are recognized in non-current assets
at cost.
Securities included in the ﬁnancial
assets are stated at the lower of cost or
market.

Non-current assets
Non-current assets are disclosed at
original cost in the balance sheet, less
accumulated depreciation and amortization.
Depreciation and amortization is
calculated from the original cost or
revaluated amounts of non-current assets
using the straight-line method over the
useful lives of assets.
The estimated useful lives are as
follows:
Buildings
25–40 years
Heavy machinery
10–20 years
Other machinery and
equipment
3–10 years
Intangible assets
3–5 years
Land and water areas are not depreciated.

Leasing
Payments of operating leases and
ﬁnancial leases are recognized as rental
expenses. Leased assets are not shown
on the balance sheet as ﬁxed assets, and
future lease payments are not shown as
liabilities. The notes to the ﬁnancial statements show the liabilities arising from
currently valid leases.

Extraordinary items
Non-recurring, material revenue and
expense items not related to normal business operations are disclosed as extraordinary items in the income statement.

External fair value of
Ahlström Capital Oy’s shares
The external fair value of shares diﬀers
from the carrying amount as follows:
when calculating the external fair value,
investments are measured at fair values
which, with respect to publicly quoted
shares, are based on period-end share
prices and, with respect to other investments, are based on valuations by independent experts, whereby the deferred
tax portion attributable to the diﬀerence
between the carrying amount and market
value of investments is also taken into
account. Net liabilities are measured at
the carrying amount when calculating the
external fair value.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS >
EUR 1,000

1. NET SALES
Distribution of net sales by country
Sweden
Finland
Germany
Russia
France
Switzerland
Netherlands
China
United Kingdom
Belgium
Denmark
Ireland
Others
Total

Group
2012

Group
2011

163,668
83,280
80,318
77,387
71,915
57,231
53,083
46,292
35,632
25,931
19,188
18,326
140,904
873,155

161,398
70,470
94,193
79,192
70,021
56,623
40,180
40,600
21,476
22,580
10,420
18,717
116,059
801,929

Distribution of net sales by business
Packaging
Contract manufacturing of electronics
Electrical installation accessories
Real estate
Others
Total

453,995
390,900
23,884
3,983
393
873,155

2. OTHER OPERATING INCOME
Gain on sale of non-current assets
Others
Total
3. MATERIALS AND SERVICES
Materials and services
Purchases during the ﬁnancial year
Change in inventories
External services
Total

Parent
2012

Parent
2011

4,239

12
4,089

75

4,314

4,101

401,800
377,000
18,900
3,837
392
801,929

3,970
344
4,314

3,809
292
4,101

35,899
4,004
39,903

4,406
707
5,113

55
55

52,587
86
52,673

–518,525
–8,417
–19,546
–546,488

–494,395
9,005
–17,498
–502,888

Group
2012

Group
2011

Group
2010

Parent
2012

Parent
2011

Parent
2010

150,952
9,349
26,484
186,785

133,105
18,902
19,122
171,129

113,750
15,367
22,829
151,946

2,262
375
67
2,704

1,672
283
50
2,005

1,561
261
52
1,874

Salaries for managing directors
of which bonuses
Remunerations to Board members

2,267
126
478

1,924
57
555

1,560
133
494

380
60
199

379
52
180

308
49
168

5. AVERAGE NUMBER OF PERSONNEL
Salaried
Blue-collar
Total

1,453
3,923
5,376

1,467
3,810
5,277

1,304
3,400
4,704

13

11

10

13

11

10

4. PERSONNEL COSTS
Wages and salaries
Pension costs
Other wage related costs
Total
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EUR 1,000

6. FINANCING INCOME AND EXPENSE
Dividend income from others
Dividend income from Group companies
Dividend income from associated companies
Interest and ﬁnancing income from Group companies
Interest and ﬁnancing income from associated companies
Interest and ﬁnancing income from others
Total

Group
2012

Group
2011

Parent
2012

Parent
2011

17

15

17

15

768

2,298
1,715

32
817

290
4,318

–629

–5,604

–1,448

335
2,131
2,483

22
468
505

Interest and ﬁnancing expenses to Group companies
Interest and ﬁnancing expenses to others
Interest expenses
Exchange losses
Other ﬁnancing expenses
Total

–9,133
–1,838
–2,802
–13,773

–8,603
–6,580
–11,855
–27,038

–1,448

–582
–17
–3,714
–4,313

Total interest and ﬁnancing expenses

–13,773

–27,038

–2,077

–9,917

–53

1,173
7,265
–16,500
–8,062

7. EXTRAORDINARY INCOME AND EXPENSE
Gain/loss on liquidation
Group contribution, received
Group contribution, given
Total

–53

8. INCOME TAXES
Taxes for current and previous years
Change in deferred taxes
Income taxes in the income statement

–3,299
694
–2,605

–4,141
–3,052
–7,193

–15
–15

–4,406
–4,406

9. INTANGIBLE AND TANGIBLE ASSETS, APPRECIATIONS, DEPRECIATIONS AND WRITE-OFFS

Group

Acquisition cost at Jan. 1
Increases
Decreases
Other changes
Reclassiﬁcations
Acquisition cost at Dec. 31
Accumulated depreciation
and amortization at Jan. 1
Increases
Decreases
Other changes
Write-downs
Depreciation and
amortization for the period
Accumulated depreciation
and amortization at Dec. 31
Book value at Dec. 31, 2012
Book value at Dec. 31, 2011

Advances
Other
paid and
tangible construction
assets in progress

Intangible
rights

Other
intangible
assets

7,229
345
–217
429
1,186
8,972

15,409
2,659
–532
2,326
337
20,199

36,629
8
–2,126
75
583
35,169

64,610
468
–13,722
–1,134
5,479
55,701

234,900
16,888
–28,808
6,831
4,552
234,363

16,563
416
–105
–10,562
–1,600
4,712

9,937
7,007
–585
99
–10,455
6,003

9,581

3,617

19,412

165,400

14,125

0

555

5,229
59
–52
417

–21
2,207

–9,162
1,409

–15,881
–1,822

–1,525
–9,742

1,145

340

1,079

1,496

2,336

16,894

554

49,696

25,781

6,732

13,263

3,657

13,995

164,591

3,412

0

23,334
18,467

280
614

2,240
1,842

6,936
5,984

31,512
33,013

41,706
45,198

69,772
69,500

1,300
2,437

6,003
9,937

Group
goodwill

Goodwill

62,035
12,443

25,500

–1,449
1
73,030

561
26,061

43,566

24,886

–15
5,000

Land
Buildings
and
and
water areas constructions

6
34

Machinery
and
equipment
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS >
EUR 1,000

Parent company

Acquisition cost at Jan. 1
Increases
Decreases
Other changes
Reclassiﬁcations
Acquisition cost at Dec. 31
Accumulated depreciation and amortization at Jan. 1
Decreases
Other changes
Depreciation and amortization for the period
Accumulated depreciation and amortization at Dec. 31
Book value at Dec. 31, 2012
Book value at Dec. 31, 2011

Advances
Other
paid and
tangible construction
assets in progress

Intangible
rights

Other
intangible
assets

203

0

26,254

35,832

2,268

57
12

203

0

26,254

67
35,899

2,268

69

–67
342

6

0

0

5,638

1,026

0

0

1,206

134

6

0

0

6,844

1,160

0

0

197
197

0
0

26,254
26,254

29,055
30,194

1,108
1,242

69
57

342
339

Land
Buildings
and
and
water areas constructions

Machinery
and
equipment

339
395
–325

Group

Shares in
associated
companies

Other
stock and
shares

Other
receivables

Book value at Jan. 1
Share of proﬁts
Increases
Decreases
Reclassiﬁcations
Other changes
Book value at Dec. 31, 2012
Book value at Dec. 31, 2011

37,261
2,470
1
–12,336
–24,606
–2,758
32
37,261

13,779

2,713

3,379
–2,016
28,185
14
43,341
13,779

744

Parent company

Shares in
Group
companies

Other
stock and
shares

87,367
116,696
–42,779
–11,380
–90

11,153
2,972

2,713

2,713
16,838
11,153

–2,713
0
2,713

10. LONG-TERM INVESTMENTS

Book value at Jan. 1
Increases
Decreases
Repayment of capital
Liquidation
Reclassiﬁcations
Book value at Dec. 31, 2012
Book value at Dec. 31, 2011

11. PREPAID EXPENSES AND ACCRUED INCOME
Long term
Periodization of costs
Short-term
Accrued interest income
Periodization of costs
Current tax receivable
Other
Total
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149,814
87,367

–2,713
744
2,713

Other
receivables

Group
Group
Parent
Parent
Dec. 31, 2012 Dec. 31, 2011 Dec. 31, 2012 Dec. 31, 2011

25

20

126
7,923
2,334
133
10,516

1,013
7,698
270
134
9,115

24

7
13

70
94

106
126

EUR 1,000

Group
Dec. 31, 2012

12. SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Tied-up shareholders' equity
Shareholders' equity at Jan. 1
Shareholders' equity at Dec. 31

Group
Parent
Dec. 31, 2011 Dec. 31, 2012

Parent
Dec. 31, 2011

36,092
36,092

36,092
36,092

36,092
36,092

36,092
36,092

Capital in excess of par value at Jan. 1
Capital in excess of par value at Dec. 31

12,774
12,774

12,774
12,774

12,774
12,774

12,774
12,774

Tied-up shareholders' equity, total

48,866

48,866

48,866

48,866

Free shareholders' equity
Proﬁt from previous ﬁnancial years at Jan. 1
Distribution of proﬁts
Acquisition and sale of shares in subsidiaries
Translation adjustment
Other changes
Adjustment of deferred taxes
Proﬁt from previous ﬁnancial years at Dec. 31

92,374
–4,511
–186
80
1,274
6,431
95,462

134,500
–4,511

134,786
–4,511

127,908
–4,511

127,363

6,431
136,706

123,397

Net proﬁt/loss for the period

24,885

–34,989

–13,859

11,389

Free shareholders' equity, total

120,347

92,374

122,847

134,786

Shareholders' equity, total

169,213

141,240

171,713

183,652

Number of
shares

EUR

3,550
–6,176

13. SHARE CAPITAL, DEC. 31, 2012
Parent Company

1 vote/share, with redemption clause

360,919 36,091,900
Group
Dec. 31, 2012

14. PROVISIONS
Personnel costs
Other
Total

1,117
8,571
9,688

Group
Parent
Dec. 31, 2011 Dec. 31, 2012

1,075
14,158
15,233

961
1,165
2,126

Parent
Dec. 31, 2011

956
1,367
2,323

15. MATURITIES OF LONG-TERM LIABILITIES
Group

Loans from ﬁnancial institutions
Deferred tax liabilities
Pension liabilities
Other long-term liabilities
Total

16. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
Long-term assets
Short-term assets
Long-term liabilities
Short-term liabilities
Total
Arising from
Depreciation diﬀerence
Tax losses
Other timing diﬀerences
Total

2014

2015

2016

2017

2018–

Total

43,971
3,510
1,523
0
49,004

7,783
284
0
9,133
17,200

7,922
406
0
0
8,328

1,442
534
0
13,471
15,447

277
1,255
20,648
9,552
31,732

61,395
5,989
22,171
32,156
121,711

Group
Group
Parent
Parent
Dec. 31, 2012 Dec. 31, 2011 Dec. 31, 2012 Dec. 31, 2011

10,668

4,678

10,571
455
–11,942
–92
–1,008

0

–6,431

–2,081
6,400
359
4,678

–1,027
6,865
–6,846
–1,008

0

–6,431
–6,431

–5,990

–6,431
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS >
EUR 1,000

17. ACCRUED EXPENSES AND DEFERRED INCOME
Long-term
Other
Total
Short-term
Personnel costs
Interest expense
Current tax payable
Other
Total

Group
Group
Parent
Parent
Dec. 31, 2012 Dec. 31, 2011 Dec. 31, 2012 Dec. 31, 2011

0

829
829

20,496
2,107
745
18,260
41,608

17,485
2,205
478
11,917
32,085

18. RECEIVABLES FROM AND LIABILITIES TO GROUP COMPANIES
Notes receivable
Accounts receivable
Other receivables
Prepaid expenses and accrued income
Total

0

0

872
25

247
42

897

83
372

5,636
1,457
360
7,453

95,720
2,665
7,265
512
106,162

1,414
29,377
371
31,162

2,828
21,890
103
24,821

357
4,848

520
759
22
1,301

0

0

20. COLLATERALS
For own liabilities
Loans from ﬁnancial institutions
Amount of mortgages and pledges

80,273
79,796

92,998
92,750

62,000
62,000

57,000
55,000

Other collaterals given on own behalf

184,991

138,834

735

1,002

9,785
21,646
31,431

10,723
27,817
38,540

71
91
162

74
132
206

35,178

7,993

26

193
9,003

26

26

Contingent liabilities for Real Estate investment's VAT

5,159

5,159

Investment commitments

3,579

4,649

Other long-term liabilities
Other short-term liabilities
Prepaid expenses and accrued income
Total
19. RECEIVABLES FROM AND LIABILITIES TO ASSOCIATED COMPANIES
Notes receivable
Accounts receivable
Prepaid expenses and accrued income
Total

21. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
Leasing and rental commitments
Current portion
Long-term portion

Commitments on behalf of Group companies
Commitments on behalf of associated companies
Commitments on behalf of others

Other contingent liabilities
Derivatives
Currency derivatives
Fair value
Nominal value of the underlying asset or liability
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4,491

–118
25,471

Group
Group
Parent
Parent
Dec. 31, 2012 Dec. 31, 2011 Dec. 31, 2012 Dec. 31, 2011

EUR 1,000

Interest derivatives
Fair value
Nominal value of the underlying asset or liability

–1,102
19,368

22. SHARES
Subsidiaries
Country
AC-Kiinteistö Oy**
Finland
AC Kinnistute AS
Estonia
Karhula Osakeyhtiö**
Finland
AC Cleantech Management Oy
Finland
ACEMS AB
Sweden
Enics AG
Switzerland
Enics Schweiz AG
Switzerland
Enics Eesti AS
Estonia
Enics Sweden AB
Sweden
Enics Electronics (Beijing) Ltd.
China
Enics Finland Oy
Finland
Enics Slovakia s.r.o.
Slovakia
Enics Hong Kong
China
AC Kosmo AB
Sweden
Elva Holding Oy**
Finland
AC Verwaltungs-GmbH
Germany
Sulma Fastigheter AB
Sweden
Capbe AB
Sweden
AC Finance B.V.
Netherlands
ACPack B.V.
Netherlands
ACPack AB
Sweden
AR Packaging Group AB
Sweden
A&R Carton AB
Sweden
A&R Carton A/S
Norway
A&R Carton Norrköping AB
Sweden
A&R Carton NA Inc.
United States
A&R Carton Lund AB
Sweden
A&R Carton Ltd
United Kingdom
A&R Carton SA
France
A&R Carton Cdf SA
France
A&R Carton Beteiligungen GmbH
Germany
A&R Carton GmbH
Germany
A&R Carton Frankfurt GmbH
Germany
A&R Carton Oy
Finland
A&R Carton Holding GmbH
Germany
ZAO A&R Carton Kuban
Russia
A&R Carton AS
Estonia
CC Pack Holding AB
Sweden
CC Pack AB
Sweden
Combi Craft AB
Sweden
SP Container
United Kingdom
EMI Corp SA
Belgia
Flextrus Group AB
Sweden
Flextrus AB
Sweden

Holding
% Subsidiaries
Country
100
Flextrus Ltd
United Kingdom
100
Flexopac AB
Sweden
100
DutchCo Alpha B.V.
Netherlands
97
Second Kosmo AB
Sweden
100
Ahlstrom Capital Solar PVT Ltd
India
96
DutchCo Delta Holding B.V.
Netherlands
CETup AB
Sweden
AC Invest Two B.V.
Netherlands
AC Invest Three B.V.
Netherlands
AC Invest Four B.V.*
Netherlands
ACEMS B.V.
Netherlands
Waspel BV
Netherlands
Elbi Elektrik International
Turkey
100
Elmas Elektrik
Turkey
100
Elbi Ukraine
Ukraine
100
Elbi Russia
Russia
100 AC Real Estate B.V.
Netherlands
100
Waspel Real Estate A.S.
Turkey
100
AC Tabasalu Kinnistute OÜ
Estonia
100
AC Bucharest Real Estate Holding B.V.
Netherlands
100
Dekad AB
Sweden
62
BDY Invest S.R.L
Romania
West Residential Park S.R.L
Romania
Lönnrotinkadun Kivipalatsi Oy*
Finland
Fastighets Ab Lönnrotsgatan 3 Kiinteistö Oy*
Finland
Lönnrotinkadun Kivipalatsi Holding Oy*
Finland
* new company
** merged 2013
*** associated company

Holding
%

100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100

100
100
100
100
100
100
50***
50***
50***

Other major shareholdings
Vacon Plc

Finland

13.5

Divestments, liquidations, mergers
Capkap AB
Capetra AB
Prosyxs AB
100 Delmatis AB

Sweden
Sweden
Sweden
Sweden

Liquidated
Liquidated
Liquidated
Liquidated

Netherlands
Netherlands
Netherlands
Germany
Netherlands

Sold
Sold
Sold
Sold
Sold

Sweden
Sweden

Merged
Merged

A&R Finance and Real Estate B.V.
67 A&R Carton Holding BV
50*** A&R Carton BV
A&R Carton Bremen GmbH
AC Invest B.V.
Flexmed AB
Remad AB
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Income Statement,
Parent Company

Statement of Cash
Flows, Parent Company

Note

2012

2011

EUR 1,000

Net Sales

1

4,314

4,101

Other operating income

2

55

52,673

Personnel costs
Depreciation, amortization and
reduction in value
Other operating expense

4

–2,704

–2,005

9

–1,339

–1,336

Cash ﬂow from operating activities
Operating proﬁt (loss)
Depreciation and amortization
Other adjustments
Cash ﬂow from operations before
change in net working capital

–12,853

–23,826

–12,527

29,607

817
–2,077
–1,260

4,318
–9,917
–5,599

–13,787

24,008

–53

–8,062

–13,840

15,946

EUR 1,000

Operating proﬁt (loss)
Financing income and expense
Interest and other ﬁnancing income
Interest and other ﬁnancing expenses

6

Result before extraordinary items

Extraordinary items

7

Result before appropriations and taxes
Appropriations
Change in depreciation diﬀerence

Income taxes
Net result for the period
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8

–4

–151

–15

–4,406

–13,859

11,389
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Change in net working capital
Increase (–) / decrease (+) of short-term
receivables
Increase (+) / decrease (–) of short-term
non-interest-bearing debts
Cash ﬂow from operating activities
before ﬁnancing items and taxes

Interest and other ﬁnancing income
Interest and other ﬁnancing expenses
Income taxes
Net cash ﬂow from operating activities

2012

2011

–12,724
1,339
9,905

28,968
1,336
–2,611

–1,480

27,693

1,219

8,356

–3,482

15,458

–3,743

51,507

49
–1,450
–15
–5,159

5,021
–1,185
0
55,343

Cash ﬂow from investing activities

Capital expenditure
Other investments
Proceeds from sales of non-current assets
Change in notes receivable and other receivables
Net cash ﬂow from investing activities

–407

–435

–23,127
44,620
–3,039
18,047

–32,593
23,474
–76,170
–85,724

Cash ﬂow from ﬁnancing activities
Change in long-term debt
Change in short-term debt
Dividends paid
Net cash ﬂow from ﬁnancing activities

–1,523
20,646
–4,511
14,612

25,476
10,419
–4,511
31,384

Change in cash and ﬁnancial investments

27,500

1,003

Cash and ﬁnancial investments
at beginning of period

10,084

9,081

Cash and ﬁnancial investments at
end of period

37,584

10,084

Balance Sheet, Parent company
ASSETS
EUR 1,000

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Note

Dec. 31
2012

Dec. 31
2011

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Intangible assets
Intangible rights
Total intangible assets

EUR 1,000

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
9

Tangible assets
9
Land and water areas
Buildings and constructions
Machinery and equipment
Other tangible assets
Advances paid and construction in progress
Total tangible assets

197
197

197
197

26,254
29,055
1,108
69
342
56,828

26,254
30,194
1,242
57
339
58,085

Dec. 31
2012

Dec. 31
2011

36,092
12,774
136,706
–13,859
171,713

36,092
12,774
123,397
11,389
183,653

1,046

1,042

1,046

1,042

2,126

2,323

27,109
1,414
28,523

27,217
6,431
2,828
36,477

35,109
435
29,748
233

30,109
121
21,993
346

12

Share capital
Capital in excess of par value
Retained earnings
Net result for the period
TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
ACCUMULATED APPROPRIATIONS
Depreciation diﬀerence
TOTAL ACCUMULATED
APPROPRIATIONS
PROVISIONS

Investments
Shares in Group companies
Other stock and shares
Other receivables
Total investments

Note

14

10
149,814
16,838
166,651
223,676

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS

87,367
11,153
2,713
101,233
159,515

LIABILITIES
Long-term liabilities
Loans from ﬁnancial institutions
Deferred tax liabilities
Liabilities to Group companies
Total long-term liabilities

15
16
18

CURRENT ASSETS
Long-term receivables
Notes receivable
Total long-term receivables

Short-term liabilities
Loans from ﬁnancial institutions
Accounts payable
Liabilities to Group companies
Other liabilities
Accrued expenses and
deferred income

339
339

0

215
7,453
460
8

179
106,162
360
7

Total short-term liabilities

897
66,421

372
52,940

TOTAL LIABILITIES

94,944

89,417

94
8,230

126
106,834

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
AND LIABILITIES

269,828

276,434

0

892

Cash and bank

37,584

9,192

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS

46,153

116,919

269,828

276,434

Short-term receivables
Accounts receivable
Receivables from Group companies
Notes receivable
Other receivables
Prepaid expenses and
accrued income
Total short-term receivables

Financial investments

TOTAL ASSETS

18

11

18

17
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Auditor’s report
TO THE ANNUAL GENERAL
MEETING OF AHLSTRÖM
CAPITAL OY
We have audited the accounting records,
the ﬁnancial statements, the Report
of Operations, and the administration
of Ahlström Capital Oy for the year
ended December 31, 2012. The ﬁnancial
statements comprise the consolidated
balance sheet, income statement, cash
ﬂow statement and notes to the ﬁnancial
statements, as well as the parent company’s balance sheet, income statement,
cash ﬂow statement and notes to the
ﬁnancial statements.

Responsibility of the Board
of Directors and the
President and CEO
The Board of Directors and the President
and CEO are responsible for the preparation of consolidated ﬁnancial statements
and the Report of Operations that give
a true and fair view in accordance with
laws and regulations governing the preparation of the ﬁnancial statements and
the Report of Operations in Finland. The
Board of Directors is responsible for the
appropriate arrangement of the control
of the company’s accounts and ﬁnances,
and the President and CEO shall see to
it that the accounts of the company are
in compliance with the law and that its
ﬁnancial aﬀairs have been arranged in a
reliable manner.

Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion
on the ﬁnancial statements, on the consolidated ﬁnancial statements and on the
Report of Operations based on our audit.
The Auditing Act requires that we comply
with the requirements of professional
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ethics. We conducted our audit in accordance with good auditing practice in
Finland. Good auditing practice requires
that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the ﬁnancial statements and the Report
of Operations are free from material
misstatement, and whether the members
of the Board of Directors of the parent
company or the President and CEO are
guilty of an act or negligence which may
result in liability in damages towards the
company or have violated the Limited
Liability Companies Act or the articles of
association of the company.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the
amounts and disclosures in the ﬁnancial
statements and the Report of Operations. The procedures selected depend
on the auditor’s judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In making those risk assessments, the
auditor considers internal control relevant
to the entity’s preparation of ﬁnancial
statements and Report of Operations that
give a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the
eﬀectiveness of the company’s internal
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting
policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the ﬁnancial statements
and the Report of Operations.
We believe that the audit evidence
we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.
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Opinion on the company’s
financial statements and
the Report of Operations
In our opinion, the ﬁnancial statements
and the Report of Operations give a true
and fair view of both the consolidated
and the parent company’s ﬁnancial
performance and ﬁnancial position in
accordance with the laws and regulations
governing the preparation of the ﬁnancial
statements and the Report of Operations
in Finland. The information in the Report
of Operations is consistent with the information in the ﬁnancial statements.

Opinions based on assignment
of the Board of Directors
We support that the ﬁnancial statements
should be adopted. The proposal by the
Board of Directors regarding the use
of the distributable equity shown in the
balance sheet for the parent company is
in compliance with the Limited Liability
Companies Act. We support that the
members of the Board of Directors and
the President and CEO of the parent
company should be discharged from
liability for the ﬁnancial period audited
by us.

Helsinki, February 15, 2013
Ernst & Young Oy
Authorized Public Accountant Firm
Kristina Sandin
Authorized Public Accountant

Proposal for the Distribution
of Profits
According to the parent company’s balance sheet as at December 31, 2012, the retained earnings and net result
for the accounting period are:
EUR
Retained earnings
136,705,909.08
Net loss for the period
–13,859,39 1.95
Total distributable funds
122,846,5 1 7. 1 3
The Board of Directors proposes that
a dividend of 20.85 euros per share be paid on the 360,919 shares
and the remainder be retained.

7, 525, 1 6 1. 1 5

Helsinki, February 15, 2013
Stig Gustavson
Chairman of the Board
Mats Danielsson

Johannes Gullichsen

Jouko Oksanen

Martti Saikku
Panu Routila
President and CEO
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Key figures
MEUR

Net sales
Other income from operations
Share of associated companies' results

2012

2011

2010

2009

2008

873.2

801.9

683.8

392.8

352.1

39.9

5.1

9.0

18.4

30.6

2.5

2.2

1.3

–3.9

–15.2

Operating proﬁt

37.7

–2.2

11.1

11.4

15.4

Net result for the period

24.9

–35.0

6.5

7.0

23.5

Dec. 31, 2012

Dec. 31, 2011

Equity ratio

36%

31%

Dec. 31, 2010 Dec. 31, 2009 Dec. 31, 2008
41%

45%

67%

Net gearing

53%

86%

42%

22%

–21%

Return on capital employed (ROCE)

11.0%

–0.5%

4.0%

5.8%

14.4%

Return on equity (ROE)

16.0%

–21.6%

3.5%

3.7%

12.3%

Equity/share, EUR

468.84

391.33

508.05

526.70

530.33

External fair value/share, EUR

834.16

721.92

674.01

632.12

618.90

Equity/share, EUR, adjusted*

592.09

502.33

606.55

607.70

563.33

External fair value/share, EUR, adjusted*

957.66

832.92

772.51

713.12

684.90

68.95

–96.94

17.98

19.51

65.08

**20.85

12.50

12.50

17.50

15.00

Net result of the period/share, EUR
Dividend/share, EUR
* adjusted with dividends paid
** proposal by the Board of Directors
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Formulas for Key Figures
Equity ratio

Shareholders’ equity + Minority interest
Balance sheet total – Advances received

× 100

Gearing

Interest bearing debts – Money market instruments – Cash and bank
Shareholders’ equity + Minority interest

× 100

Earnings per share

Proﬁt before extraordinary items and taxes – Taxes on regular operations ± Minority interest
Number of shares on average for accounting period

Equity per share

Shareholders’ equity at the end of ﬁscal year
Number of shares at the end of ﬁscal year

Return on Capital Employed

Operating proﬁt + Interest and other ﬁnancing income
Total assets – Non-current liabilities, on average for accounting period

× 100

Return on Equity

Income before extraordinary items – Taxes
Shareholders' equity + Minority interest, on average for accounting period

× 100
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Book Value and
External Fair Value of the Shares
MEUR if not otherwise stated

Dec. 31, 2012

Dec. 31, 2011

BOOK VALUE
Book value of Ahlström Capital Group's shareholders' equity
Shareholders' equity, per share, EUR

169.2

141.2

468.84

391.33

EXTERNAL FAIR VALUE*
248.2

237.0

Cleantech

13.5

10.8

Real Estate

68.7

61.7

Liquid funds

41.5

18.5

Industrial investments

Interest bearing debt and other

–70.8

–67.4

External fair value of Ahlström Capital Group, total

301.1

260.6

834.16

721.92

External fair value, per share, EUR

* Ahlström Capital’s valuation policies comply with the IPEV guidelines (International Private Equity and Venture Capital Valuation Guidelines), according to which
the external fair value is the price at which an orderly transaction would take place between market participants at the reporting date.
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Shares and Shareholders
Shares and share capital
Ahlström Capital Oy’s registered share
capital on December 31, 2012 was EUR
36,091,900.
The company has one series of
shares. Each share entitles the holder
to one vote in the general meeting of
shareholders.

The Articles of Association include a
redemption clause as deﬁned in Chapter
3, section 7 of the Limited Liability Companies Act.

Shareholdings
At the end of 2012, Ahlström Capital had
211 shareholders.

Shareholdings of the Board
of Directors
On December 31, 2012 members of the
Board of Directors held 4,840 shares in
Ahlström Capital Oy, which represents
1.34 percent of the voting rights and
shares.

SHAREHOLDERS BY GROUP ON DECEMBER 31, 2012
Number of shares

Percentage of shares

38,904

10.8

3,750

1.0

Companies
Financial and insurance institutions
Public corporations

23,490

6.5

Finnish households

244,693

67.8

Foreign households

45,585

12.7

Others
Total

4,497

1.2

360,919

100.0

DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDINGS ON DECEMBER 31, 2012

Number of
shareholders

Percentage of
shareholders

Number of
shares and
votes

Percentage of
shares

1–100

67

31.8

1,924

0.5

29

101–500

36

17.1

7,801

2.1

217

Number of shares

Average number of
shares held

501–1,000

21

9.9

16,470

4.6

784

1,001–5,000
5,001–

71

33.6

170,627

47.3

2,403

16

7.6

164,097

45.5

10,256

211

100

360,919

100

1,710

Total
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Governance Principles
Ahlström Capital Oy is a private limited
company registered in Finland. The company follows good corporate governance
practices in accordance with the Finnish
Limited Liability Companies Act, the
company’s Articles of Association and
the principles of the Corporate Governance Code for Finnish listed companies.
Ahlström Capital is a member of the
European Private Equity & Venture Capital Association (EVCA) and the Finnish
Venture Capital Association (FVCA).
The company provides information
to shareholders, employees, and the
public on a regular basis. The company’s
website www.ahlstromcapital.com also
provides information about the company
and its operations.
The work of the Board of Directors
is also governed by rules of procedure,
which deﬁne the responsibilities and
working methods of the Board of Directors and management, and document the
company’s reporting practices.
Ahlström Capital Oy is the parent
company of the Group and has signiﬁcant minority interests in associates. It is
responsible for the development of the
Group’s business, handles the Group’s
ﬁnancial reporting, provides Group and
associate companies with services relating to risk management, ﬁnance, legal
aﬀairs and governance and advises them
in strategic and investment matters.
The Group consists of several
independent companies, subgroups and
separate associates. Decisions concerning the operations of these are taken by
their own decision-making bodies.
The company exercises its ownership
through representatives that its Board
annually elects to the decision-making
bodies of the company’s subsidiaries and
associates.
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The company's shares have in December 2012 been incorporated in the
Finnish book-entry system maintained by
Euroclear Finland Ltd.

General Meeting of Shareholders
The highest authority in Ahlström Capital
is exercised by the shareholders at
general meetings of shareholders. The
Annual General Meeting decides on the
number of members on the Board of
Directors and elects the Board members. In addition, the general meeting of
shareholders has exclusive authority over
matters such as amending the Articles
of Association, adopting the ﬁnancial
statements, deciding on the distribution
of proﬁts, and electing auditors.
In 2012, the Annual General Meeting
was held on March 29 in Helsinki.
To participate in a general meeting,
shareholders must submit advance notiﬁcation by no later than the date indicated
in the notice, which day may not be
earlier than 10 days prior to the meeting.
Notices of general meetings are published in the Official Gazette or delivered
to shareholders by registered mail no
earlier than two months and no later
than two weeks prior to the last date of
advance notiﬁcation.
Notiﬁcations to shareholders are delivered by e-mail or in writing by mail.

Board of Directors
The Annual General Meeting elects no
fewer than ﬁve and no more than seven
ordinary members to the Board of Directors. The term of Board members ends
at the close of the next Annual General
Meeting following the election. The Board
chooses a Chairman and, if it deems
necessary, a Vice Chairman from among
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its members. The current Board has ﬁve
members, of whom Johannes Gullichsen
and Jouko Oksanen have been on the
Board since the company was founded
on June 30, 2001, Martti Saikku since
March 26, 2007, Stig Gustavson since
March 31, 2011 and Mats Danielsson
since November 7, 2011. Stig Gustavson
has been Chairman of the Board since
August 30, 2011.
All Board members are independent except Johannes Gullichsen, who is
serving also as a member of the Board of
Antti Ahlström Perilliset Oy, the company’s biggest shareholder, since January
19, 2012.
The Board has no female members.
The Board represents the owners of
the company. The duties and responsibilities of the Board are based on the Finnish Limited Liability Companies Act and
other applicable legislation, as well as on
the Articles of Association and the rules
of procedure adopted by the Board. The
Board has general jurisdiction over all
company aﬀairs which under law or the
Articles of Association are not speciﬁcally to be decided or implemented by
other bodies.
In cooperation with the President, the
Board attends to internal supervision,
which also includes risk management.
Risk management is mainly carried out in
the subsidiaries and associates, that is, in
potential sources of risk.
The Board conﬁrms the company’s
and the Group’s general targets and strategy, and approves the annual plan.
In 2012, the Board held 13 meetings,
all of which were attended by all the
members.

In 2012, members of the Nomination
and Compensation Committee have
been Stig Gustavson (Chairman), Jouko
Oksanen and Martti Saikku (as from
March 29). Additionally, a representative
of the biggest shareholder Antti Ahlström
Perilliset Oy (Carl Ahlström until June
28, Thomas Ahlström as from June 28)
attends the Committee meetings when
election and remuneration of Board
members are handled. The Committee prepares proposals regarding the
company’s and Group’s administration,
salaries and incentives applicable within
the company, and management’s terms of
employment for the consideration of the
Board. In 2012, the committee held six
meetings.
The Board annually reviews its operations and working methods using an
internal self-evaluation.

President and personnel
Ahlström Capital’s President is appointed
by the Board. The President plans and
manages the company’s and Group’s
business operations and bears responsibility for the company’s and Group’s
operational administration in compliance
with the instructions and decisions of
the Board. He supervises and manages
the analysis and appraisal of prospective
investments, and the development and
divestment of holdings.
The company’s President is Panu
Routila, M.Sc.(Econ.), who has held the
position since April 1, 2008.
Panu Routila chairs the Boards of
Directors of Enics AG, Elbi Electric
International Trade & Industry Corporation, AC Cleantech Management Oy and
Lönnrotinkadun Kivipalatsi Oy, and serves
as a member of the Boards of Vacon Plc,
Ripasso Energy AB, AR Packaging Group

AB and and A&R Carton AB. He holds
12,688 shares in the portfolio company
AR Packaging Group AB and 75 shares
in AC Cleantech Management Oy.
Panu Routila is entitled to retire at the
age of 63 and has the right to severance
pay equal to 6 months' salary in the event
of termination of employment.
In addition to the President, the company has 13 employees. They assist the
President, actively monitor and develop
the company’s operations in accordance
with the objectives set, handle reporting,
and prepare decisions on investments
and divestments for discussion by the
Boards of the company and the company’s associates and subsidiaries.

also report on their observations to the
company’s Board.
The Group’s auditing fees in 2012
were EUR 742 thousand (879; 751).
The company adheres to insider
guidelines. However, as an unlisted company, it does not have insider administration in place.

Salaries and remuneration
The Annual General Meeting conﬁrms
the remuneration of Board members. In
2012–2013 the Chairman receives an
annual remuneration of EUR 80,000 and
the members EUR 32,000. No separate
meeting fees are paid for board meetings. For committee meetings, a fee of
EUR 800 is paid. The Board decides
on the President’s salary and beneﬁts
and conﬁrms the salaries, incentives,
and beneﬁts of other members of the
management.
The company’s employees are entitled
to incentives according to the company’s
incentive policy. Incentives are based on
the company’s ﬁnancial performance.

Supervision
Ahlström Capital’s auditor is the auditing
ﬁrm Ernst & Young Oy, with Kristina
Sandin, Authorized Public Accountant,
as the auditor in charge. The auditors
supply the company’s shareholders with
the statutory auditor’s report as part of
the annual ﬁnancial statements. They
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Information for shareholders
Annual General Meeting

Financial information

Ahlström Capital Oy’s Annual General
Meeting will be held in Helsinki, at
Eteläesplanadi 14, on Thursday, March
21, 2013 at 5:00 pm.
The Notice of the Annual General
Meeting has been published in the Ofﬁcial Gazette No. 25/February 27, 2013.

Ahlström Capital’s annual report 2012
is published in Finnish, Swedish, and
English.
In 2013, the company will inform the
shareholders about the development of
its performance on a quarterly basis by
arranging result brieﬁngs on February 18,
April 24 and October 23, and sending
on August 6 by letter a ﬁnancial review
for the period January 1 to June 30. The

ﬁnancial result of the ﬁnal quarter of
2013 will be published on February 17,
2014. The shareholders also receive the
quartely reports by e-mail or letter.
The company’s annual report for 2013
is estimated to be completed in March
2014.
The annual report is available on the company’s website at
www.ahlstromcapital.com.

Certain statements herein are not based on historical facts, including, without limitation, those regarding
expectations for market growth and development, returns, and proﬁtability. Phrases containing expressions such as
“believes”, “expects”, “anticipates” or “foresees” are forward-looking statements. Since these are based on
forecasts, estimates, and projections, they involve an element of risk and uncertainty, which may cause actual
results to diﬀer from those expressed in such expectations and statements.
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